INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES ADVISORY COUNCIL (ILSAC)

2024 ANNUAL REPORT TO THE SECRETARY



Table of Contents

Introduction: ILSAC Purpose & Scope	3
2024 Executive Summary	4
This Year's ILSAC Focus & Analysis	5
Education, Training, and Employment	6
Transportation	6
Health and Wellbeing	6
Successes	7
Barriers	7
Recommendations	8
Permanent Connections with Supportive Adults	9
Needs Assessment and Financial SupportQualifying Activity	10 12
Housing	12
Looking Ahead	12
Council Members	133

Introduction: ILSAC Purpose & Scope

The Florida Legislature has established the Independent Living Services Advisory Council ("ILSAC" or "the Council") for the purpose of reviewing and making recommendations concerning the implementation and operation of the Extended Foster Care (EFC) program (section 39.6251, Florida Statutes (F.S.)) and the Road-to-Independence (RTI) programs (section 409.1451, F.S.), which includes Postsecondary Education Services and Support (PESS), and Aftercare Services. These programs provide participants with the skills, education, and support necessary to become self-sufficient and leave foster care with a lifelong connection to a supportive adult.

The Council is required to assess the implementation and operation of EFC and the RTI Programs and advise the Department of Children and Families (Department) on actions that would improve the ability of these programs' services to meet established goals. The Council's recommendations and the Department's response to those recommendations are included in an annual report that the Department submits to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives pursuant to section 409.1451(7), F.S.

In 2021, the Florida Legislature strengthened and expanded the Department's reporting requirements. Specifically, the Department's report must include the most recent data regarding the status of and outcomes for young adults who turned 18 years of age while in foster care and an analysis of such data and outcomes in each of the following domains:

- Education
- Employment
- Housing
- Financial

- Transportation
- Health
- Well-being
- Connections

The Council collects additional data to help analyze the effective implementation of EFC and RTI programs. This activity involves editing the CBC Data Collection Form as needed and requesting that the Department require each Community Based Care Lead Agency (CBC) to provide additional information regarding such factors as staffing structure, service array, outcome data, and administration. It should be noted that the CBC reporting could also include information obtained from the Case Management Organization (CMO).

This report includes the Council's recommendations to the Secretary regarding actions that would improve the ability of Independent Living programs and services to meet established goals, the status of the implementation of programs, efforts to publicize the availability of the programs, the success of the services; problems identified, and recommendations for Department or legislative action. Moreover, it allows stakeholders to understand the efficiency and effectiveness of programs related to the Council and points ahead to opportunities for continuous improvement in the areas of coordination of efforts, progress toward incremental goals, and the measuring and reporting of overall outcomes for the population served by the Council.

2024 Executive Summary

This year the Council tasked themselves with "deconstructing" the Extended Foster Care (EFC) Program. EFC is a program available to young adults between the ages of 18-21 (or 22 in certain situations). It is implied based on eligibility factors for youth turning 18 in licensed department custody and requirements to maintaining eligibility, that young adults should demonstrate progress towards achieving their stated goals, thus decreasing their dependency on the system programs and in turn increase their self-reliance and within certain timeframes. EFC offers opportunities for young adults to receive needed support and assistance to complete their educational, career, transportation, and housing goals. Young adults should be involved in ongoing developmental life skills opportunities and have the ability to exercise their right to make decisions for themselves and experience the results of those decisions whenever safely possible. It can be very challenging for some child welfare professionals to adjust from a protective posture to a more flexible, coaching posture, which is necessary when encouraging young adults to have decision-making responsibility. It will take time and much effort for both advocates and the system of care to be willing to fully make this shift.

The Department is taking a closer examination of other challenges that also require more focus, and to assess what is working, what it should continue adjusting, and make suggestions about what would an ideal system for older teens and young adults look like. EFC is a complex program that is necessary to prevent housing instability, ensure education continuity, and support employment opportunities for youth that are aging out of licensed foster care settings. The program is saturated with administrative process related to federal Title IV-E guidelines. However, it is not clear how the state is reclaiming these or other available resources that can supplement state funding that is also needed to support the growing eligible population of youth that have not achieved permanency and are not prepared to take on their full responsibilities when they turn 18. While incremental progress has been made, there are still improvements needed on new processes related to data quality for reporting on youth actively receiving services. Additionally, quality assurance service data could not be fully assessed in its entirety and therefore ongoing assessment and research will continue over the next year.

Areas of focus this year included measures of success, milestones, and outcomes, judicial oversight of case plan compliance measures and consequences, opt-outs & readmissions, ongoing training of IL services to young adults, programs data and outcomes, progress on reporting of permanent connections, housing challenges, needs assessment and allowance, qualifying activities, youth engagement and specialized independent living training curriculum.

This Year's ILSAC Focus & Analysis

Highlights discussed this year included: Utilization of the Youth Active Receiving Services Report for tracking and reporting of outcome measures pertaining to young adults participating in post-18 programs. At this time the Department is able to monitor compliance with My Pathways to Success (MPTS) Transition Plan staffings, Life Skills Assessment, and Permanent Connections. There is not yet one full year of data available to analyze, but the committee looks forward to reviewing further progress and data within the upcoming year.

Based on evaluative work conducted during Fiscal Year (FY) 2023-2024, the Council recognizes opportunities to assess the current state of overall performance management for the ILSAC program during FY 2024-2025. Using the existing OCFW performance dashboard as a guide, these efforts would first aim to (re)establish outcome measures that, when monitored comprehensively and consistently, reflect what success for the program looks like. The initial steps for this work should seek to capture the variety of outcome metrics currently in use across the network. This will provide a functional baseline for future evaluation and expansion of performance assessment, management, and improvement efforts.

Given that outcome measures tend to be "lagging" in nature, attention should also be devoted to identifying *upstream* activities and performance metrics related to these "leading" indicators that serve as *drivers* of desired outcomes (a brief conceptual overview of the relationships among these types of measures can be found (here). With a menu of proposed outcome measures in hand, the group can then assess what leading activities and associated indicators make the most sense as functional drivers of desired outcomes.

Most regions are using social media (e.g., Facebook, Instagram) to engage with youth and promote their programs, while platforms such as YouTube and Twitter are less commonly used. Many organizations find social media effective in reaching youth, while others are still working on optimizing their engagement. Organizations track engagement metrics from social media by the number of likes, shares, and follower growth, which are often seen as agreed upon metrics for measuring engagement effectiveness. Some also rely on feedback from youth and internal reports. Youth Councils and Advisory groups are another method used for engaging youth and to aid in their inclusion for decision-making. Other strategies include social media campaigns and in-person events.

A common challenge is ensuring consistent participation and measuring engagement beyond social media and monthly transactional interactions. There is not much evidence that supports use of best practice models or other strategies that promote quality engagement between the professionals and young adults. Some examples that were mentioned did include Youth Thrive, Positive Youth Development, Social / Emotional Learning, Transition to Independent Process (TIP), and Trust Based Relational Intervention (TBRI) and other coaching models. It is stated that youth are "automatically" enrolled into the EFC program at 18. Some Lead Agencies including Family Partnerships of Central Florida, Northwest Florida Health Network, Heartland, and Citrus have well developed written practices and procedures, forms, and assessments to help engage, guide, and support program participants. These are additional steps taken above the required DCF forms. There is obvious inconsistency across the state by the manner and strategies used to engage with this unique population and truly assessing their basic and financial needs as well as the young adults' capabilities. In addition to this inconsistency, how progress and success is defined for and by youth and young adults is not one size fits all.

For the most part, other than minimal expectations set by the Department and the EFC Program, most agencies also do not report imposing specific benchmarks or milestones that may work to promote a timelier transition into the PESS program and/or living independently.

The Department learned last year that staffing ratios are on average 25:1. The Council anticipates better understanding of the process for claiming Title IV-E reimbursement, so that resources can continue to be provided to help support the efforts being made to help youth have a smooth transition to adulthood.

Education, Training, and Employment

One of the primary resources available to Young Adults seeking post-secondary education and training on their road to independence is the tuition waiver made available through the Department, in partnership with the Department of Education. This resource waives the cost of tuition and fees associated with an eligible student qualifying educational programs at designated public educational institutions in Florida.

Beyond the state tuition waiver, ILSAC also notes an opportunity to explore additional resources made available through the Federal Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) managed by the local workforce development board in each area of the state: the name and counties served by each local workforce board can be found here; a map of the career centers located within each local area, along with the addresses of their locations, can be found here. Under WIOA Title I, resources potentially relevant to the Young Adults include the WIOA in-school youth and out-of-school youth programs. Information on WIOA eligibility and enrollment can be obtained from the local workforce development board serving the county in which the youth resides, as noted above. Individual Training Accounts (ITAs), the primary mechanism for enrollment in education and training under WIOA, leverage designated programs listed on the Eligible Training Provider List (ETPL) for the state and/or local area.

In addition to the local workforce development boards, as described above, youth and young adults can also find employment resources at their one-stop career centers. Specific employment programs available in many areas include registered apprenticeships, pre-apprenticeships, and other employment programs aimed at helping participants secure training associated with in-demand occupations and self-sustaining wages on their path to independence. Achieving the greater degree of cross-partner coordination and collective awareness of each other's programs implied in this section will promote the overall goals of the REACH Act (2021) and Senate Bill 240 (2023) in a manner consistent with the "no wrong door" structure of the FLWINS platform currently under development.

Transportation

Keys to Independence provides youth in EFC and PESS with the chance to obtain their driver's licenses and helps with car insurance costs for six months. The program also collects data on license attainment, trends, and barriers. The Council reviewed data from the Lead Agencies on transportation. The data collection forms indicate that Lead Agencies address issues when they are a barrier to participation in IL programs for individuals over 18. This can strain already overburdened case managers or result in financial assistance being provided to remove barriers for youth to attend appointments and other qualifying activities and personal appointments.

Health and Wellbeing

The Sunshine Health Child Welfare Specialty Plan provides multiple expanded benefits available to young adults aging out of the child welfare system. These benefits include an Over The Counter benefit, providing \$25 each month per member for health, wellness, and hygiene items; the Transition Assistance Fund, providing up to \$500 one-time per adult member to support safe and stable housing; transportation for medical appointments, behavioral health appointments and social trips each month through a transportation vendor and the Care Grant, which provides up to \$150 per calendar year per child for services or supplies for educational use, social use or physical activities. The Department works

in partnership with a Health Plan representative attending transition plan staffings in order to provide education directly to young adults on these benefits and encouraging young adults to fully utilize the benefits available to them through their health plan. Ongoing efforts are needed to help young adults access and maximize these available resources.

Successes

There is evident progress with compliance reporting. The Council is making progress in collaboration with Independent Living professionals across the state and the Department to create a needs assessment tool and recommend potential changes needed to the FSFN payment guide. These efforts include determining incidental needs compared to discretionary wants, along with guidelines for defining language and operating policies regarding terms for providing training "allowances, stipends, and incentives. The council along with the Department, will be able to analyze annual roll up results from the Quality Assurance Reviews to better understand gaps in service, quality trends, and inconsistencies in services provision.

Barriers

There is little evidence to support that youth are gaining work experiences or other opportunities to practice skill building related to their personal goals prior to turning 18 and entering EFC or RTI programs. Youth are often unprepared to take on the responsibilities of managing their monthly expenses as a result. This lack of preparation perpetuates a systemic dependency of financial assistance and attachment to professionals instead of building lasting connections with supportive adults within their local communities. This lack of preparation coupled with failure to achieve permanency, and the challenges associated with managing high demand caseloads or turnover also significantly impact the effectiveness of programs under charge by this Council. As a result, this requires additional resources for the real practice opportunities that are postponed. Additionally, this lack of preparation also impacts the maintenance of collaborative relationships with housing and other partnerships statewide. Additional Housing Challenges include:

- **High Costs**: Many organizations report difficulties due to **high housing costs** and lack of suitable, affordable housing for youth.
- Supportive Housing Gaps: There's a consistent need for specialized supportive housing options that provide both accommodations and services including mental and behavioral health supports. Youth require more support and treatment to stabilize before being able to work on goals towards living independently.
- Fair Market Rent and negotiations with local housing providers are standard approaches for determining housing costs. Partnerships with community organizations are common to secure housing options.
- Most young adults lack work experience or do not have enough income to support themselves
 after turning 18. They do need an appropriate amount of time to adjust to their new expectations
 and responsibilities as an adult and to secure employment where they can earn livable wages
 and begin establishing a better quality of life balanced with work and meeting responsibilities.
- Young adults on average remain in EFC for 2-3 years. This can be related to multiple factors
 including low self-esteem, motivation, and messages told to them about their limitations or
 special needs during their dependency experience.
- Increased rate of eligible youth turning 18 accessing EFC because they are not prepared to enroll in PESS program or achieve Independence.

The program is saturated with specific administrative processes and required documentation related to federal Title IV-E eligibility guidelines. There is still work to be done to reflect accurate accounting of young adults actively receiving services and how they navigate and/or are guided through Independent

Living Services within the state of Florida. While it is not yet clear how the state is reclaiming reimbursement as a result of all the compliance factors, some considerations should be made to balance the demand of Independent Living staff so they are able to have time to have meaningful and effective engagement with EFC program participants and be able to engage in real social work activities

Report	Recommendation	
Section	Tresonmendation	
Outreach and Youth Engagement	Analyze results taken from the annual roll up of the Quality Reviews to determine the best practice trends that directly impact the levels of engagement, progress and successful outcomes for young adults participating.	
EFC Process Definition.	Collaborate with Lead Agencies to help Identify activities and performance metrics and indicators that serve as <i>drivers for</i> desired outcomes for being on path for achieving self-sufficiency before the age of 21(22). Continue to roll out Independent Living Curricula and take steps to insure validity for FCB certification.	
EFC Needs Assessments.	The Council recommends continuing to collaborate with the Department on finalizing the development of a new needs assessment tool to better identify and address the needs of young adults. The committee will continue collaborating with the Department to further research and review this effort. Allowance amounts should be standardized using this tool, with clear definitions established for 'incidental' and 'discretionary' expenses. During the 2024 IL Training, IL field staff showed openness to adopting a statewide tool. The recommendation is to ensure basic needs are met, with any additional expenses becoming the responsibility of the youth or young adult, encouraging early financial accountability.	
Accountability	The Department developed training specific to Independent Living that will address quality home visits, documentation of qualifying activities and the termination process. In the next year, the Council should track data from the quality office to see if this training has any impact on the outcome of quality visits and verification of the qualifying activity. The council also recommends that data be collected regarding the specific reasons for termination to determine if the quality of visits is correlated to EFC termination.	
Housing and Housing Partnerships	In response to these challenges, ILSAC is recommending that the Department create a statewide Housing Coordinator position who will help alleviate barriers to the access and understanding of the FYI vouchers; be responsible for the coordination of ongoing trainings, the development of new housing partnerships and opportunities, the creation of an ongoing statewide housing workgroup that will share information and resources with one another, the creation of a housing database, amongst other duties that lead to a statewide effort to address difficulties with housing. In addition, ILSAC recommends the sharing of data and information collected as part of the 3-year pilot where 3 Lead Agencies are receiving funding for a Housing Specialist. Understanding the impact of this pilot may lead to future recommendations that can lead to consistent and effective housing solutions statewide.	
Preparation of Youth Transitioning to Adulthood	The Council recommends that the Department address the lack of preparation and the System of Care's failure to follow currently documented procedures established for youth transitioning from care and youth under 18 years of age, as required by the Department. The inconsistencies in the System of Care amongst children and youth's formal Independent Living skills, needs to be addressed with all providers, Lead Agencies, and Case Management Organizations so that formal services can be provided consistently to youth entering EFC or RTI for better outcomes. The charge of the committee needs to be clearly interpreted as it related to youth ages 13-17 as outlined in section 409.14515, F.S., and Rule 65C-28.009, Florida Administrative Code.	
Connections	The Council recommends that this continue to be monitored through the use of the Young Adult Receiving Services (YARS) and National Youth in Transition Database (NYTD) reports.	

⁻ Change agent connector to the other available programs and resources.

Recommendations

The below summary is an overview of the 2024 ILSAC data collection assessment synthesizing key points for the Department, Secretary, and Florida Legislature. The intent is to save the reader time and assisting with understanding the report's overall content.

Permanent Connections with Supportive Adults

Problem Statement:

According to the National Youth in Transition Database (NYTD) data as of 2024, out of a cohort of 337 young adults aged 21, 82% reported they have at least one supportive adult connection. However, only 61% of young adults ages 19-22 were reported to have at least one supportive adult connection according to Young Adult Receiving Services (YARS) data as of June 2024.

Research/Analysis:

The ILSAC'S subcommittee on Permanent Connections researched the number of youth and young adults aging out of foster care with at least one supportive, permanent adult connection. Utilizing the Department's newly created YARS report, the ILSAC was able to track statewide data in real time to help pinpoint the potential barriers facing both youth and young adults and frontline staff. The Permanent Connections Subcommittee also conducted several focus groups with youth and young adults and discovered that in addition to potentially outdated and unreported information, staff in some areas were not adequately engaging youth and young adults to collect this information effectively. Some youth that have been reported as not having a supportive adult were found to have these connections already but were not challenged or taught to view these connections in a supportive way, thus leading to further inaccuracies in reporting. Data Entry errors and update lag time was discovered by the department to potentially lead to high number of participants being counted and skewing report data.

The ILSAC collected the information below from the YARS report about the percentage of permanent connections statewide. Additionally, the table below shares a few testimonies as qualitative data received from the youth focus groups.

Percent of Permanent Connections Statewide (YARS)		
February 20, 2024	30%	
April 30, 2024	51%	
June 3, 2024	61%	
August 22, 2024	54%	

The Permanent Connections Subcommittee conducted several focus groups with youth and young adults to understand firsthand reasons behind the data results. Youth and young adults were asked about what permanent connections mean to them. The subcommittee asked the following questions:

- a. What does a mentoring relationship look like to you?
- b. What are some things mentors can do to better support young people transitioning out of care?
- c. What is the difference between a mentor and a supportive adult?

Summary of Youth Feedback:

Based on the youth feedback, some of the barriers identified were turnover in child welfare and not having a consistent case manager, Guardian Ad Litem, or placements. Youth during these focus groups have stressed the importance of having someone who will be their constant supportive adult. The youth shared that they need guidance as they age, especially as they are transitioning into adulthood. Many young adults mentioned they are entering into post-18 programs with the expectations that they know vital life skills, but often do not. Some feel behind the curve amongst their peers and unsure of who to ask for help at times.

Focus Group Results and Findings:

As a result of the focus groups, the subcommittee found:

- Supportive adult information was often outdated.
- Staff in some areas did not report information because they were not adequately engaging youth and young adults to collect this information effectively.
- Some youth that have been reported as not having a supportive adult were found to have these connections already but were not challenged or taught to view these connections in a supportive way, thus leading to further inaccuracies in reporting.
- It was also recently discovered by the Department that agencies were not closing out cases correctly, leading to potentially higher numbers of cases and skewing report data.
- The ILSAC plans to review past and future NYTD and other state youth survey results to determine the effectiveness of Florida's permanent connections practices.

Recommendation:

The Council recommends that this continue to be monitored through the use of the YARS and NYTD reports.

Needs Assessment and Financial Support

Problem statement:

Community Based Care lead agencies hold the responsibility to provide financial support for the needs of young adults in their programs. This responsibility is handled in various ways and is not standardized among agencies statewide. Furthermore, agencies do not have a standard definition to reference when assessing needs over wants, incidental vs. discretionary.

In efforts to fully prepare young adults for independent living, the Council recognizes the importance of a thoughtful approach needed in delivering this financial support by agencies. The Council recommends that a thoughtful approach is facilitated through a revised Needs Assessment Tool and corresponding guide collaboratively created with the Department in the Spring 2024. The tool captures daily living expenses in all areas of life and factors income and government assistance. The section below elaborates further on the elements of the tool and its expected benefits.

About the Tool:

The Needs Assessment Tool will capture the following subsections in relation to the needs identified from the My Pathways to Success Transition Plan. These categories will include Education, Housing, Hygiene essentials, transportation, childcare, basic needs and discretionary expenses. Along with the Needs Assessment Tool, there will be a Needs Assessment Guide to assist staff with explaining the process to determine if allowance is appropriate, and also so that the young adult understands the financial benefit and purpose of completing the Assessment Tool.

Research/Analysis:

Youth Feedback

Youth and young adults often miss out on the full range of services and benefits available to them due to gaps in education and engagement. As a result, resources like Sunshine Health's Child Welfare Specialty Plan expanded benefits are underutilized. By implementing a standardized assessment process, we can better equip agencies and youth to address their unique transitional needs and expectations, reducing the risk of crisis situations. This approach fosters meaningful dialogue, enabling support teams to more effectively understand and meet needs while helping youth achieve their goals.

Benefits to a Standardized Tool:

Should the Department adopt the Needs Assessment Tool as a required process for lead agencies and subcontracted Independent Living programs, the Council expects youth/young adults to receive improved service delivery and be better prepared for independent living. More youth/young adults would be able to take advantage of services like Sunshine Health's expanded benefits. Independent Living programs will no longer need to navigate ambiguity surrounding financial support for the youth/young adult's basic needs. In turn, lead agencies will be able to approach their Independent Living programs with increased fiscal responsibility.

Recommendation:

The Council recommends continued collaboration with the Department on finalizing the development of a new Needs Assessment Tool to better identify and address the needs of young adults. The committee will continue collaborating with the Department to further research and review this effort. Allowance amounts should be standardized using this tool, with clear definitions established for 'incidental' and 'discretionary' expenses. During the 2024 IL Training, IL field staff showed openness to adopting a statewide tool. The recommendation is to ensure basic needs are met, with any additional expenses becoming the responsibility of the youth or young adult, encouraging early financial accountability.

Qualifying Activity

Problem Statement:

The Council was tasked with "deconstructing" the Extended Foster Care (EFC) Program to get a better understanding of successes, barriers and areas that require the focus of the council. An area identified by the Council for review was the requirement for a qualifying activity to participate in the Extended Foster Care Program. Specifically, the Council's focus was to determine if agencies are monitoring the qualifying activity and assisting the young adults with barriers to participation in a qualifying activity.

Research/analysis:

In October 2023, the DCF Office of Quality and Innovation reviewed 63 EFC cases from across all regions. The findings revealed areas needing improvement: 21% of cases lacked a quality visit with the child, 8% had no review or verification of qualifying activities, and 17% did not address barriers to self-sufficiency. These gaps in documentation and discussion could affect the young adults' success in the EFC program.

In June 2024, the Office of Quality and Innovation conducted a follow-up review of 63 EFC cases, noting some changes since the previous October 2023 review. While there was a slight improvement in the quality of visits, the frequency of visits has significantly decreased. This indicates progress in visit quality but highlights a concern with visit frequency that could impact the effectiveness of the EFC program.

The Office of Quality and Innovation will continue to conduct focus reviews for Independent Living every six months.

Recommendation:

The Department developed training specific to Independent Living that will address quality home visits, documentation of qualifying activities and the termination process. In the next year, the Council should track data from the Office of Quality and Innovation to see if this training has any impact on the outcome of quality visits and verification of the qualifying activity. The council also recommends that data be collected regarding the specific reasons for termination to determine if the quality of visits is correlated to EFC termination.

Housing

Problem Statement

There are marked barriers to providing adequate support and options to young adults needing housing. The affordable housing crisis in Florida has only compounded this issue, making it difficult for lead agencies to navigate resources consistently. Ongoing challenges exist in the areas of recruitment of new landlords and the development of new housing relationships, ongoing training on new and existing housing supports/resources, successful management of new housing partners, the development of housing for specialized populations. The lack of options has led to lead agencies having to settle for higher rental rates and to the concern that young adults were being placed in housing that did not align with their needs, creating risks for young adults with higher needs (i.e. behavioral health, etc.). Many other challenges make it evident that housing is an ongoing topic ILSAC must address in the upcoming year. However, the analysis of existing information initiated immediate recommendations for the Department.

Research/Analysis

In ILSAC's analysis of housing across the state, it was evident that lead agencies with resources, either directly or indirectly (via hybrid model/partnerships), that have a Housing Specialist/Coordinator were more successful in developing and pairing youth with appropriate housing options that met their individualized needs. While some IL teams are less knowledgeable about how to expand their housing resources, other circuits have more robust housing offerings. The lack of information sharing and consistent training in this area is cause for concern.

Recommendation

In response to these challenges, ILSAC is recommending that the Department create a statewide Housing Coordinator position who will help alleviate barriers to the access and understanding of the FYI vouchers; be responsible for the coordination of ongoing trainings; the development of new housing partnerships and opportunities; the creation of an ongoing statewide housing workgroup that will share information and resources with one another; the creation of a housing database, amongst other duties that lead to a statewide effort to address difficulties with housing. In addition, ILSAC recommends the sharing of data and information collected as part of the 3-year pilot where 3 lead agencies are receiving funding for a Housing Specialist. Understanding the impact of this pilot may lead to future recommendations that can lead to consistent and effective housing solutions statewide.

Looking Ahead

In 2025, the Council will continue to utilize the CI Action Deck as a central repository of issues of concern to better prioritize and address topics in the planning stages of our working calendar. The Council will continue to use the CBC Data Collection form to gain more insight into programmatic services and their implementation.

The Council intends to continue focus on Extended Foster Care to complete critical and analytical review of this program. The focus on Extended Foster Care is based on reviewing past recommendations as well as the research conducted in the 2022, 2023, and 2024. The Council will be reviewing current data, needed measurement milestones, review best practices in-state as well as out-of-state best practices and incorporation of youth voice in the problem-solving process.

A methodical approach is needed for reviewing open issues and analyzing statewide gaps. The Council shall address the necessity for ongoing defined subcommittee workgroups. By implementing

subcommittees, a more in-depth and thorough exploration can be achieved in the research of the EFC and RTI programs.

We are looking forward to presentations from Florida's Council on Independent Living, Updates from the HOPE Court and Housing Pilots currently in progress across the state. We are also requesting updates on Federal Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA).

Finally, the Council determined a need to review Council Member term limits. Current term limits impact the efficiency of the Council operations in numerous ways, as recommendations made and accepted by the Department, take more than four years to fully implement. As such, incoming Council leaders; (including the Chair, Co-Chair, & Secretary) have limited to no knowledge for meaningful follow up through to closure. The Council is considering a legislative revision to § 409.1451(7.2.c), F.S. and an executive briefing for term limit changes has been prepared for consideration.

Council Members

The Council Roster as of the writing of this report.

Leadership:

Regina Watson: Camelot Community Care – Chair Christine Frederick: FLITE CENTER – Co-Chair

Stephanie Lucas: Children's Network of SW FL Community Based Care Lead Agency (CBC)- Secretary

Council Members:

Adam Briggs: CareerSource Florida, Inc Alison Fulford: Department of Juvenile Justice Chelsea Strickland: Department of Education Demarco Mott: Citrus FCN Youth Advisory Council

Dietra Barfield: Camelot Community Care

Eileen Geisler: ChildNet Community Based Care Lead Agency (CBC) Heather DeFrancisco: DCF Regional - Office of Economic Self Sufficiency John Watson: DCF Headquarters – Office of Child and Family Wellbeing

Lynda Thompson: Foster and Adoptive Parent Association

Margie Dotson: Communities Connected for Kids Community Based Care Lead Agency (CBC)

Maria Batista: Youth Advisory Board

Melissa Vergeson: Agency of Health Care Administration (AHCA)

Opal Ringo: Agency for Persons with Disabilities

Raul Catuy: Reconnecting the Dots Sara Pham: Sunshine State Health Plan Tony Delisle: Centers for Independent Living

Vacant Council Seat(s):

Department of Economic Opportunity

The Independent Living Services Advisory Council thanks the Department, the Secretary, and the Florida Legislature for your support and attention.